



SF0025

Animal impound proceedings - bond and disposition.

Sponsored By: Joint Agriculture, State and Public Lands & Water Resources Interim Committee

AN ACT relating to crimes and offenses; amending enforcement provisions; providing for the possession and care of impounded animals as a result of charges; amending provisions relating to the cost and disposition of impounded animals; providing alternative processes as specified; providing for an expedited court hearing; and providing for effective dates.

12/30/2020 Bill Number Assigned
1/12/2021 S Received for Introduction
1/12/2021 S Introduced and Referred to S05 - Agriculture
1/27/2021 S05 - Agriculture:Recommend Do Pass 5-0-0-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Senator(s) Boner, Bouchard, French, Kost, Wasserburger
Ayes 5 **Nays** 0 **Excused** 0 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

1/27/2021 S Placed on General File
1/28/2021 S COW:Rerefer to S01 - Judiciary
3/3/2021 S01 - Judiciary:Recommend Amend and Do Pass 5-0-0-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Senator(s) Cooper, French, Kolb, Kost, Nethercott
Ayes 5 **Nays** 0 **Excused** 0 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

3/3/2021 S Placed on General File

SF0025SS001/ADOPTED

Page 4-line 6 After "animal" insert ". No animal shall be forfeited without a hearing pursuant to paragraphs (vi) through (viii) of this subsection, regardless of whether a bond is posted, if the animal is connected to the livelihood or ability to make a living of the owner".

Page 5-line 19 Delete "fourteen (14)" and insert "seven (7)".

Page 6-line 12 Delete "may" and insert "shall".

Page 9-line 5 After "animal." insert "No animal shall be forfeited without a hearing pursuant to subsections (g) through (j) of this section, regardless of whether a bond is posted, if the animal is connected to the livelihood or ability to make a living of the owner.".

Page 10-line 17 Delete "fourteen (14)" and insert "seven (7)".
NETHERCOTT, CHAIRMAN

3/4/2021 S COW:Passed
3/5/2021 S 2nd Reading:Passed

SF0025S3001/ADOPTED

Page 1-after line 9 Insert:

"Section 1. W.S. 6-3-1010 is created to read:

6-3-1010. Impounding and forfeiture hearing.

(a) Any person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 and who has probable cause to believe there has been a violation of this article may impound any animal treated cruelly. The following shall apply to impounding an animal under this subsection:

(i) If any animal is impounded under this subsection, the owner of the animal shall be liable for all reasonable costs of impoundment and shall be required to post a bond with the circuit court in the county where the animal was impounded. Reasonable costs of impoundment shall include, but are not limited to, costs for the transportation, board, nutritional care, veterinary care and diagnostic testing. The bond shall be:

(A) In an amount the circuit court determines is sufficient to provide for all reasonable costs of the animal's impoundment for at least ninety (90) days including the day on which the animal was impounded. The bond may also include an amount the circuit court determines sufficient to provide for the final disposition of the animal; and

(B) Filed with the circuit court within ten (10) days after the animal is impounded.

(ii) When the bond required by paragraph (i) of this subsection expires, if the owner of the animal desires to prevent disposition of the animal by the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115, the owner shall post a new bond with the court as described in paragraph (i) of this subsection. The court may correct, alter or otherwise adjust the new bond before the expiration date of the previous bond;

(iii) If a bond is not posted under paragraphs (i) or (ii) of this subsection, the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 shall dispose of the animal. As used in this section, "dispose" means to place for adoption, sell or destroy. The owner of the animal shall be liable for all costs associated with the final disposition of the animal under this subsection. Posting of a bond shall not prevent the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 from disposing of the impounded animal before the expiration of the period covered by the bond if the court orders the forfeiture of the animal pursuant to paragraph (vi) of this subsection or the owner voluntarily forfeits the animal. No animal shall be forfeited pursuant to paragraph (vi) of this subsection without a hearing pursuant to paragraphs (vi) through (viii) of this subsection, regardless of whether a bond is posted, if the animal is connected to the livelihood or ability to make a living of the owner;

(iv) If a bond has been posted in accordance with paragraph (i) or (ii) of this subsection, the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 may draw from the bond the actual costs of the activities described in paragraph (i) of this subsection, from the date of initial impoundment to the date of final disposition of the animal;

(v) Upon the final disposition of the animal, any bond amount remaining that has not been expended in the impoundment and disposition of the animal shall be remitted to the owner of the animal;

(vi) A person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 or other participant in the criminal action may file a petition in the criminal action requesting the court issue an order forfeiting the animal to the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 if:

(A) The animal is in the possession of and being held by a person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115;

(B) The outcome of the criminal action charging a violation of this article is pending; and

(C) The final disposition of the animal has not occurred.

(vii) Upon receipt of a petition pursuant to paragraph (vi) of this subsection, the court shall set a hearing on the petition for forfeiture of the animal. The hearing shall be conducted within seven (7) days after the filing of the petition or as soon as practicable thereafter. The hearing shall be limited to the question of forfeiture of the animal;

(viii) At a hearing conducted pursuant to paragraph (vii) of this subsection, the prosecutor shall have the burden of establishing probable cause to believe that the animal was subjected to a violation of this article. A prior finding of probable cause to proceed on the criminal case will create a rebuttable presumption that probable cause exists for the forfeiture proceeding. After the hearing, if the court finds probable cause exists, the court may order immediate forfeiture of the animal to the person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115. If, after the hearing, the court finds no probable cause exists the animal shall be returned to the owner of the animal and the owner shall not be responsible for any costs of the impoundment incurred after a finding of no probable cause unless the person later pleads guilty to or is found guilty of a violation of this article."

Page 1-line 11 Delete entirely.

Page 1-line 12 Delete "(q) and" and insert "**Section 2.** W.S."

Page 1-line 13 Delete "are" and insert ", as amended by 2021 Senate Enrolled Act 12, 2021 Senate File 26, and signed by the governor on February 5, 2021, is".

Pages 2 through 5 Delete entirely, including the Senate standing committee amendment (SF0025SS001/A) to these pages.

Page 6-lines 1 through 16 Delete entirely.

Page 7-lines 7 through 16 Delete entirely and insert:

"(b) If any livestock animal is impounded under subsection (a) of this section, the owner of the livestock animal ~~impounded under subsection (a) of this section, and who has been cited under W.S. 6-3-1002, 6-3-1003 or 6-3-1005,~~ shall be liable for all reasonable costs of impoundment and shall be required to post a bond with the circuit court in the county where the livestock animal was impounded. Reasonable costs of impoundment shall include, but are not

limited to, costs for the transportation, board, nutritional care, veterinary care and diagnostic testing. The bond shall be:". NETHERCOTT

3/8/2021 S 3rd Reading:Passed 24-6-0-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Senator(s) Anderson, Baldwin, Boner, Case, Cooper, Dockstader, Driskill, Ellis, French, Furphy, Gierau, Hutchings, Kinskey, Kolb, Kost, Landen, Nethercott, Pappas, Perkins, Rothfuss, Salazar, Schuler, Scott, Steinmetz

Nays: Senator(s) Biteman, Bouchard, Hicks, James, Mckeown, Wasserburger

Ayes 24 **Nays** 6 **Excused** 0 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

3/9/2021 H Received for Introduction

3/10/2021 H Introduced and Referred to H05 - Agriculture

3/18/2021 H05 - Agriculture:Recommend Amend and Do Pass 8-1-0-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Representative(s) Blackburn, Clausen, Eklund, Fortner, Heiner, Laursen, Western, Winter

Nays: Representative Wharff

Ayes 8 **Nays** 1 **Excused** 0 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

3/18/2021 H Placed on General File

SF0025HS001/ADOPTED

(TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Page 7-line 12 After "may" insert "in consultation with an agent or officer of the board,".

Page 7-lines 13 through 15 Delete "." and reinsert all stricken language.

Page 12-line 3 Delete "may" and insert "shall".
EKLUND, CHAIRMAN

SF0025HW001/ADOPTED

(TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Page 7-line 10 Delete "W.S.".

Page 7-line 11 Delete "6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 8-line 17 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 9-line 3 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 9-line 11 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 10-line 2 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 10-line 13 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 10-line 17 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 10-line 21 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes".

Page 12-line 2 Delete "W.S. 6-3-203" and insert "title 6, chapter 3, article 10 of the Wyoming statutes". EKLUND

**SF0025HW002/ADOPTED (TO ENGROSSED COPY)
(CORRECTED COPY)**

Delete the Eklund committee of the whole amendment (SF0025HW001/AE) entirely and further amend as follows:

Page 6-line 22 After "**Section 2.**" insert:

"W.S. 11-29-101(a) by creating new paragraph (vii) and by renumbering (vii) as (viii) is amended to read:

11-29-101. Definitions.

(a) As used in this act:

(vii) "A person with authority to enforce this chapter" means a peace officer, agent or officer of the board;

(vii)(viii) "This act" means W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115.

Section 3.

Page 7-line 10 Delete "or W.S.".

Page 7-line 11 Delete "6-3-203".

Page 8-line 17 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 9-line 3 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 9-line 11 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 10-line 2 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 10-line 13 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 10-line 17 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 10-line 21 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203".

Page 12-line 2 Delete "or W.S. 6-3-203". CRAGO, CLAUSEN, EKLUND

3/24/2021 H COW:Passed
3/25/2021 H 2nd Reading:Passed
3/26/2021 H 3rd Reading:Laid Back

**SF0025H3001/ADOPTED (TO ENGROSSED COPY)
(CORRECTED COPY)**

Page 1-line 7 Delete entirely and insert "providing for effective dates."

Page 6-line 22 Delete the Crago et al. committee of the whole amendment (SF0025HW002/ACE) to this line; after "W.S." insert "11-29-101(a) by creating new paragraphs (vii) and (viii) and by renumbering (vii) as (ix)," ; delete "(b)(intro), (i),".

Page 7-line 1 After "(j)" delete balance of line.

Page 7-line 2 Delete entirely.

Page 7-line 3 Delete "is" and insert "are".

Page 7-after line 3 Insert:

"11-29-101. Definitions.

(a) As used in this act:

(vii) A "person with authority to enforce this chapter" means a peace officer, agent or officer of the board;

(ix) "Reasonable costs of impoundment" means all costs incurred by the impounding entity in providing necessary food and water, veterinary attention and treatment for any animal which is impounded under this act;

~~(vii)~~(xi) "This act" means W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115."

Page 7-lines 17 through 23 Delete entirely.

Page 8-lines 1 through 12 Delete entirely.

Page 8-line 14 After "bond" insert "required by subsection (b) of this section".

Page 8-line 20 Delete "upon a motion made".

Page 9-line 7 After "adoption" insert "or return to the owner".

Page 9-line 13 After "bond if" insert "during a disposition hearing pursuant to subsection (g) of this section".

Page 9-line 14 After "livestock animal" delete balance of line.

Page 9-line 15 Delete "section" and insert "to a person with authority to enforce this chapter".

Page 10-line 9 After "impoundment" insert "and disposition".

Page 10-line 10 Delete "or keeper".

Page 10-line 15 Delete "forfeiting the".

Page 10-lines 16 and 17 Delete entirely and insert "providing for the final disposition of the livestock animal if:".

Page 11-line 9 Delete "forfeiture" and insert "disposition".

Page 11-line 13 Delete "forfeiture" and insert "the disposition".

Page 11-line 17 Delete "establishing probable cause to believe" and insert "proving by a preponderance of the evidence".

Page 11-line 18 Delete "A".

Page 11-lines 19 through 21 Delete entirely and insert "After the".

Page 11-line 22 Delete "probable cause exists," and insert "by a preponderance of the evidence that the livestock animal was subjected to a violation of this chapter,".

Page 12-line 3 Delete "that no probable cause exists," and insert "by a preponderance of the evidence that the livestock animal was not subjected to a violation of this chapter,".

Page 12-line 4 Delete "or keeper".

Page 12-line 5 Delete "or keeper".

Page 12-line 6 After "impoundment" insert "incurred after a finding that the livestock animal was not subjected to a violation of this chapter".

Page 12-after line 8 Insert:

"Section 3. W.S. 11-29-101, 11-29-108 and 11-29-109 as amended by Wyoming Session Laws 2021 Chapter 30 are amended to read:

11-29-108. Livestock board; seized livestock animals and vehicles; lien on seized chattels; civil action for unpaid expenses.

When any person arrested under this act is in charge of any vehicle drawn by or containing any livestock animal cruelly treated in violation of W.S. 6-3-1002 or this chapter at the time of arrest, any peace officer, agent or officer of the board may take charge of the livestock animal and vehicle and its contents, and give notice thereof to the owner, if known, and shall provide for them until their owner takes possession of them. The board or local government shall have a lien on the livestock animals, the vehicle and its contents for the ~~expense of the care and provision~~ reasonable costs of impoundment. The expense or any part remaining unpaid may be recovered by the board or local government in a civil action.

11-29-109. Livestock board; care of abandoned livestock animals; civil action for expenses; lien.

Any peace officer, agent or officer of the board may take charge of any livestock animal found abandoned, neglected or treated with cruelty in violation of W.S. 6-3-1002 or this chapter. He shall give notice to the owner, if known, and may care and provide for the livestock animal until the livestock animal is ~~released or destroyed~~ disposed of. The ~~expenses of care and provision is~~ reasonable costs of impoundment are a charge against the owner of the livestock animal and

collectible from the owner by the board or by the local government employing the peace officer taking charge of the livestock animal in a civil action. The board or local government may detain the livestock animals until the ~~expense for food, shelter and care is~~ reasonable costs of impoundment are paid and shall have a lien upon the livestock animals therefor. This lien shall be filed as provided pursuant to W.S. 29-7-101 through 29-7-106.

Section 4. W.S. 11-29-114(b) as amended by Wyoming Session Laws 2021 Chapter 30 is repealed and recreated to read:

11-29-114. Impoundment of livestock animals; cost of care for livestock animals; providing for bond.

(b) If any livestock animal is impounded under subsection (a) of this section, the following shall apply:

(i) Within the earlier of seventy-two (72) hours of impoundment or charges being filed, the circuit court shall hold a hearing to set a bond in an amount the circuit court determines is sufficient to provide for the livestock animal's reasonable costs of impoundment for at least ninety (90) days including the day on which the livestock animal was impounded. At the request of the owner of the livestock animal, the court may make a determination on the disposition of the livestock animal at a hearing pursuant to this paragraph.

(ii) The bond shall be posted by the owner of the livestock animal with the circuit court in the county where the livestock animal was impounded within ten (10) days after the hearing required by this paragraph."

Page 12-line 10 Delete entirely and insert:

"Section 5.

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, this act is effective July 1, 2021

(b) Sections 4 and 5 of this act are effective immediately upon completion of all acts necessary for a bill to become law as provided by Article 4, Section 8 of the Wyoming Constitution.". GREEAR

SF0025H3002/ADOPTED (TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Page 2-lines 7 through 22 Delete entirely.

Page 3-lines 1 and 2 Delete entirely and insert:

"(i) If any animal is impounded under this subsection the following shall apply:

(A) Within the earlier of seventy-two (72) hours of impoundment or charges being filed, the circuit court shall hold a hearing to set a bond in an amount the circuit court determines is sufficient to provide for the animal's reasonable costs of impoundment for at least ninety (90) days including the day on which the animal was impounded. At the request of the owner of the animal, the court may make a determination on the disposition of the animal at a hearing pursuant to this subparagraph.

(B) The bond shall be posted by the owner of the animal with the circuit court in the county where the animal was impounded within ten (10) days after the hearing required by this subparagraph."

- Page 3-line 17 Delete "or destroy" and insert ", destroy or return to the owner".
- Page 4-line 1 After "bond if" insert "during a disposition hearing pursuant to paragraph (vi) of this subsection".
- Page 4-line 2 Delete entirely and insert "to a person with authority to enforce this article or W.S. 11-29-101 through 11-29-115 or the owner"
- Page 5-lines 5 and 6 Delete entirely and insert "providing for the final disposition of the animal".
- Page 5-line 21 Delete "forfeiture" and insert "disposition".
- Page 6-line 2 Delete "forfeiture" and insert "the disposition".
- Page 6-line 6 Delete "establishing probable cause to believe" and insert "proving by a preponderance of the evidence".
- Page 6-line 8 After "article." delete balance of line.
- Page 6-lines 9 and 10 Delete entirely and insert "After".
- Page 6-line 11 Delete "probable cause exists," and insert "by a preponderance of the evidence that the animal was subjected to a violation of this article,".
- Page 6-line 15 Delete "no probable cause exists" and insert "by a preponderance of the evidence that the animal was not subjected to a violation of this article,".
- Page 6-line 18 Delete "of no probable cause" and insert "that the animal was not subjected to a violation of this article". CRAGO

SF0025H3003/ADOPTED (TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Page 12-after line 8 Insert:

"Section 3. W.S. 6-3-1005(a)(i) and (b) as created by Wyoming Session Laws 2021 Chapter 30 is amended to read:

"6-3-1005. Felony cruelty to animals; penalty.

(a) A person commits felony cruelty to animals if the person:

(i) Commits ~~aggravated~~ cruelty to animals as defined in W.S. 6-3-1002(a)(v) through (ix), that results in the death or required euthanasia of the animal; or

(b) Felony cruelty to animals is a felony punishable by:

(i) Permanent forfeiture of the animal or livestock animal; and

(ii) Imprisonment for not more than two (2) years, a fine of not more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000.00), or both."

Page 12-line 10 Delete "**Section 3.**" and insert "**Section 4.**".

To the extent required by this amendment: renumber as necessary. ZWONITZER

SF0025H3004/ADOPTED (TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Page 12-after line 8 Insert:

"**Section 3.** W.S. 6-3-1005(a)(i) as created by Wyoming Session Laws 2021 Chapter 30 is amended to read:

"6-3-1005. Felony cruelty to animals; penalty.

(a) A person commits felony cruelty to animals if the person:

(i) Commits ~~aggravated~~-cruelty to animals as defined in W.S. 6-3-1002(a)(iv)(B), (v) through (ix), that results in the death or required euthanasia of the animal; or".

Page 12-line 10 Delete "**Section 2.**" and insert "**Section 4.**".

To the extent required by this amendment: renumber as necessary. ZWONITZER

SF0025H3005/WITHDRAWN

3/29/2021 H 3rd Reading:Passed 40-19-1-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Representative(s) Andrew, Banks, Blackburn, Brown, Burkhart, Clausen, Clifford, Connolly, Crago, Duncan, Eklund, Eyre, Flitner, Greear, Hallinan, Haroldson, Harshman, Heiner, Henderson, Kinner, Larsen, L, Macguire, Martinez, Newsome, Oakley, Obermueller, O'hearn, Olsen, Ottman, Paxton, Provenza, Roscoe, Sherwood, Simpson, Stith, Sweeney, Washut, Wharff, Wilson, Zwonitzer

Nays: Representative(s) Baker, Barlow, Bear, Burt, Fortner, Gray, Jennings, Knapp, Laursen, D, Neiman, Nicholas, Schwartz, Sommers, Styvar, Walters, Western, Williams, Winter, Yin

Excused: Representative Hunt

Ayes 40 **Nays** 19 **Excused** 1 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

3/29/2021 S Received for Concurrence

3/30/2021 S Concur:Failed 1-28-1-0-0

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Senator Perkins

Nays: Senator(s) Anderson, Baldwin, Biteman, Boner, Bouchard, Case, Cooper, Dockstader, Driskill, Ellis, French, Furphy, Gierau, Hicks, Hutchings, James, Kinskey, Kolb, Kost, Mckeown, Nethercott, Pappas, Rothfuss, Salazar, Schuler, Scott, Steinmetz, Wasserburger

Excused: Senator Landen

Ayes 1 **Nays** 28 **Excused** 1 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

3/30/2021 S Appointed JCC01 Members
Senator(s) Boner, Bouchard, French

3/30/2021 H Appointed JCC01 Members
Representative(s) Greear, Crago, Walters

4/1/2021 S Adopted SF0025JC001: 24-5-1-0-0

SF0025JC001/SADOPTEDHADOPTE (TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Adopt the following House amendments:

SF0025HS001/A
SF0025HW001/A
SF0025HW002/A
SF0025H3001/A
SF0025H3002/A
SF0025H3003/A

Delete the following House amendments:

SF0025H3004/A BONER, BOUCHARD, FRENCH, GREEAR, CRAGO, WALTERS

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Senator(s) Anderson, Baldwin, Boner, Case, Cooper, Dockstader, Driskill, Ellis, French, Furphy, Gierau, Hicks, Hutchings, Kinskey, Kolb, Kost, Landen, Nethercott, Pappas, Rothfuss, Schuler, Scott, Steinmetz, Wasserburger

Nays: Senator(s) Biteman, Bouchard, James, Mckeown, Salazar

Excused: Senator Perkins

Ayes 24 **Nays** 5 **Excused** 1 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

4/1/2021 H Adopted SF0025JC001: 51-8-1-0-0

SF0025JC001/SADOPTEDHADOPTE (TO ENGROSSED COPY)

Adopt the following House amendments:

SF0025HS001/A
SF0025HW001/A
SF0025HW002/A
SF0025H3001/A
SF0025H3002/A
SF0025H3003/A

Delete the following House amendments:

SF0025H3004/A BONER, BOUCHARD, FRENCH, GREEAR, CRAGO, WALTERS

ROLL CALL

Ayes: Representative(s) Andrew, Banks, Barlow, Blackburn, Brown, Burkhart, Clausen, Clifford, Connolly, Crago, Duncan, Eklund, Eyre, Flitner, Greear, Hallinan, Haroldson, Harshman, Heiner, Henderson, Hunt, Kinner, Knapp, Larsen, L, Laursen, D, Macguire, Martinez, Newsome, Nicholas, Oakley, Obermueller, O'hearn, Olsen, Ottman, Paxton, Provenza, Roscoe, Schwartz, Sherwood, Simpson, Sommers, Stith, Sweeney, Walters, Washut, Western, Wharff, Wilson, Winter, Yin, Zwonitzer

Nays: Representative(s) Baker, Bear, Burt, Gray, Jennings, Neiman, Styvar, Williams

Excused: Representative Fortner

Ayes 51 **Nays** 8 **Excused** 1 **Absent** 0 **Conflicts** 0

4/2/2021 Assigned Number SEA No. 0059

4/2/2021 S President Signed SEA No. 0059

4/2/2021 H Speaker Signed SEA No. 0059
4/6/2021 Governor Signed SEA No. 0059
4/6/2021 Assigned Chapter Number 119

Chapter No. 119 Session Laws of Wyoming 2021